THE NEW CONSTITUTION OF THE

S.A. INSTITUTION OF AUCTIONEERS

ACCEPTED AT 2011 AGM

Table of Contents

<u>Chapter I:</u>	
Section 1: Name	Pg3
Section 2: Legal Character	Pg3
Section 3: Situation and Area of Operations and Jurisdiction	Pg3
Section 4: Winding up and Dissolution	Pg3
Section 5: Objectives, Visionary Goals, Mission & Shared Values	Pg4
	•
Chapter II:	
Section 1: Board of Directors	Pg7
Section 2: Executive Committee	Pg8
Section 3: Administration	Pg9
Section 4: Committees	Pg9
Section 5: Elections	Pg11
Oh A III	
Chapter III: Section 1: Classes of Membership	Pg13
Section 2. Qualification for Membership	
Section 2: Qualification for Membership	Pg15
Section 3: Application for Membership	Pg15
Section4: Certificate of Membership	Pg17
Section5: Membership Not Transferrable	Pg17
Section6: Changes in Corporate Identity	Pg17
Section7: Change in Address	Pg17
Section8: Notices	Pg18
Chapter IV:	
Section 1: Complaints & Adjudication of Disputes	Pg19
Section 2: Consideration of Complaints & Investigation thereof	Pg19
Section 3: MediationSection 3: Mediation	Pg20
Section 4: Formal Changes	Pg20
Section 5: The Institute's Powers and Duties in respect of an enquiry	Pg21
Section 6: Proceedings at the Enquiry	Pg21
Section 7: Sanction	Pg23
Section 8: Costs	Pg23
Section 9: Appeal	Pg23
Section10:Recovery of Fines and Cost Orders	Pg25
Chapter V:	
Section 1: Application Fees	Pg26
Section 2: Subscriptions	Pg26
Section 3: Levies	Pg26
Section 4: Finances	Pg26
Section 1.1 mances	1 920
Chapter VI:	
Section 1: Annual General Meeting (AGM)	Pg28
Section 2: Special General Meeting (SGM)	Pg28
Section 3: Board of Directors Meeting	Pg29
Section 4: EXCO Meetings	Pg30
Section 5: Committee Meeting	Pg31
Section 6: Resolutions and Records	Pg31
Chanter VIII	
Chapter VII: Change of Constitution	Pg32
onango or constitution	1 932
Chapter VIII:	_
ndemnification of Committee Members	Pg33
Chapter IX:	
Articles of Association	Pg34
	J - 1

CONSTITUTION

CHAPTER I

NAME, LEGAL CHARACTER, SITUATION AND AREA OF OPERATION AND JURISDICTION, WINDING UP AND DISSOLUTION, OBJECTIVES AND VISIONARY GOALS.

SECTION 1: NAME

- 1.1 The name of the Institute shall be **THE SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE OF AUCTIONEERS**. The recognised abbreviated form shall be SAIA.
- 1.2 Registered members who are in good standing and in respect of whom there has been no suspension of membership for any reason whatsoever, and save for candidate and associate members referred to in Chapter III below, shall be obliged in advertising or trading in respect of their auctioneering business, to reflect in any advertising or documentation pertaining to the auctioneering business the fact that they are members of SAIA.

SECTION 2: LEGAL CHARACTER

SAIA is a Legal Entity capable of suing and being sued in its own name. SAIA is a registered company incorporated not for gain in terms of the provisions of Section 21 of the Companies Act bearing registration number 895903/08.

SECTION 3: SITUATION AND AREA OF OPERATIONS AND JURISDICTION

SAIA chooses the Physical address of its duly appointed auditors as its domicilium citandi et executandi, its Head Office address and their physical address for purposes of all notices and Court Process.

SECTION 4: WINDING UP AND DISSOLUTION

If upon the winding-up or dissolution of SAIA there remains, after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed amongst the members of SAIA, but shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having objects similar to the objects of SAIA. Such Institution or Institutions to be determined by SAIA at, or before the time of the dissolution, and if so and so far as effect cannot be given to the aforesaid provision, then some charitable object appointed by the Minister of Social Welfare and Pensions.

SECTION 5: OBJECTIVES, VISION, MISSION AND SHARED VALUES

5.1. OBJECTIVES

The objectives of SAIA shall be:-

- 5.1.1. To generally concern itself with all matters and questions relating to the conduct of auctioneering in the Republic of South Africa;
- 5.1.2 To promote, protect and further the good image of auctioneers and the auctioneering profession in the eyes of all users of the auctioneering profession including but not limited to, the public, liquidators, commerce and government sectors.
- 5.1.3 To facilitate the development of the auctioneering profession by lobbying where necessary for legislative enactments or changes to existing legislation.
- 5.1.4 To engage with the necessary government and private sector authorities with a view to enhancing the image of auctions and the auctioneering profession and thereby ensuring that the interests of the general body of members is recognised in the government and private sectors and where necessary in appropriate legislation.
- 5.1.5 To do all such things as may be necessary to ensure that members conform and adhere to the Constitution and the Code of Conduct annexed to the Constitution as provided for by the Constitution or any amendments thereto or the Code of Conduct or any amendments thereto;
- 5.1.6 To ensure that members at all times conform to generally accepted professional and uniform and consistent general methods of business in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct for the benefit of users of the auctioneering profession.
- 5.1.7 To interact and liaise with international bodies or organisations whose principal focus is related to the auctioneering profession.
- 5.1.8 To do all such things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of these objects.

5.2. VISION

The prime vision of SAIA shall be to set auctioneering standards for the protection of members and the public; i.e., both sellers and buyers.

5.3. MISSION

The mission of SAIA shall be to achieve the above by pursuing the following 10 (ten) visionary goals:

No	Visionary Goal	Goal Description
5.3.1.	Representative Leadership For the Industry	Create Strong, united and representative body with strong leadership goals and a membership base to become a self regulating body (mouth piece) for the industry which allows the organization to lobby government to establish a statutory body which protects the interests of the public and regulates the auctioneering industry whilst establishing standards and promoting good governance.
5.3.2.	Marketing & Communication	Enhance SAIA's image and visibility as a reputable organization through marketing and improving communication and networking opportunities, both internally amongst members and externally with various stakeholders.
5.3.3.	One Professional Body	Establish a fully representative body of qualified and professional auctioneers that promotes expertise in auctioneering across industries, including auto,arts,game, livestock, and property sectors.
5.3.4.	SAIA Infrastructure	Develop and maintain a fully functional office, with permanent facilities and full time dedicated resources that support the interests of SAIA members and provide a focused service to the industry.
5.3.5.	Research & Development	Establish and maintain a research and development program that allows SAIA to preserve the historical heritage of auctioneering and to maintain continuous improvement by adapting to the changing needs of its members and clients.
5.3.6.	Membership	Increase and maintain SAIA's membership base of qualified and professional auctioneers, including affiliated members who conform to SAIA's code of conduct and ethics.
5.3.7.	Member Benefits	Create opportunities for members to enjoy benefits of being SAIA members, including medical aid, pension fund, education, networking, trade discounts (advertising, travelling, accommodation, car hire, etc.)

No	Visionary Goal	Goal Description
5.3.8.	Equal Opportunities for All Members	Create an enabling climate with stakeholders (e.g. Financial Institutions, Liquidators, Government, etc) in order to promote equal opportunities in the distribution of auctioneering work amongst SAIA members according to the laws of the new South Africa; especially to BEE members, small companies and women.
5.3.9.	Education and Training	Promote the education and training of SAIA members to ensure the highest level of professionalism and service delivery in order to uphold high standards of auctioneering practises which protect SAIA's image and reputation.
5.3.10.	Social Responsibility	Develop a social responsibility program and encourage members to contribute to the raising of funds for distribution to causes that uplift identified needy communities.

5.4. SHARED VALUES

The shared values of SAIA shall be to cultivate a culture that is conducive to the creation of the capacity and enthusiasm to achieve the articulated vision and mission among a critical mass of stakeholders, including members, sellers, buyers and suppliers. Amongst others, the values listed hereunder shape the future culture of SAIA.

- Family (sharing, fellowship & companionship)
- Integrity (respect and honesty)
- Professionalism
- Passion and fun
- Diversity

CHAPTER II

CONTROL, GOVERNANCE, DIRECTORS, EXCO MEMBERS, MANAGEMENT, COMMITTEES AND ELECTIONS

SECTION 1: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.1. POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The policy formulation and governance of SAIA shall vest in the Board of Directors whose role shall be to determine the strategic direction, objectives and vision of SAIA.

1.2. NUMBER OF DIRECTORS, ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE

- 1.2.1. The Board of Directors shall consist of 10 (ten) elected natural members and 1 (one) Ex-officio member who shall be the National Secretary of SAIA.
- 1.2.2. The 10 (ten) elected natural members of the Board of Directors shall be made up as follows:
 - The Chairperson
 - The Vice Chairperson
 - The Director of the Finance Committee
 - The Director of the Public Relations and Events Committee
 - The Director of the Membership Committee
 - 5 Elected Directors, of whom 2 (two) will be elected annually
- 1.2.3. The term of office for directors shall be 2 (two) years.
- 1.2.4. Retired directors shall be eligible for re-election for a new term. There shall be no limit to the number of terms a director can serve.
- 1.2.5 Vacancies among directors of SAIA shall be filled by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors and the director so chosen shall be appointed for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office.
- 1.2.6 Vacancies by directors other than the Chairperson need not be filled if the Board of Directors do not deem it necessary to fill such vacancies for the remainder of the term.

1.3. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 1.3.1. The Board of Directors shall formulate policy, regulations, strategic direction and objectives for the governance of SAIA.
- 1.3.2. The Board of Directors shall ensure that the business and affairs of SAIA are conducted in accordance with the approved Constitution, including the convening of the AGM, special meetings if any, presiding over elections of directors and keeping of proper records for SAIA.
- 1.3.3. The Board of Directors shall delegate the necessary authority, jointly and severally to, EXCO to control and manage the business and affairs of SAIA, including the implementation of SAIA's objectives and vision.

- 1.3.4. The Board of Directors shall constitute all other committees of SAIA, appoint their respective Chairpersons and delegate the necessary authority to such committees to execute their respective roles and responsibilities under the supervision of the Chairperson and EXCO.
- 1.3.5. The Board of Directors shall appoint the National Secretary to administer the day to day business and affairs of SAIA under the supervision of the Chairperson and EXCO.
- 1.3.6. The Board of Directors shall approve the annual budget and funding of SAIA.
- 1.3.7. The Board of Directors shall perform the business and affairs of SAIA with diligence and uphold the fiduciary duties applicable to directors in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act No 61 of 1973.

SECTION 2: EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)

2.1. POWERS OF EXCO

The control and management of SAIA shall vest in EXCO whose role shall be to implement the objectives, vision, mission and values of SAIA and manage its business and affairs in accordance with the policies and resolutions of the Board of Directors adopted from time to time.

2.2. NUMBER OF EXCO MEMBERS, ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE

- 2.2.1. EXCO shall consist of 5 (five) elected members and 1 (one) Ex-officio member who shall be the National Secretary of SAIA.
- 2.2.2. The 5 (five) elected EXCO Members of SAIA shall be The Chairperson, The Vice Chairperson, The Director of the Finance Committee ("Treasurer"), The Director of the Public Relations and Events Committee ("The PR") and The Membership Director, who shall be elected every second year at the AGM of SAIA. The National Secretary shall be appointed by the Board of Directors.
- 2.2.3. Only members who have previously served a full 2 (two) year term as a director of SAIA shall be eligible for election on EXCO.
- 2.2.4. In the event of a vacancy on EXCO the Chairperson will have the discretionary powers in electing not to fill such vacancy for the remainder of the term.
- 2.2.5. Vacancies among EXCO Members of SAIA shall be filled by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors and the EXCO members so chosen shall be appointed for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office.
- 2.2.6. Retired members of EXCO shall be eligible for re-election for a new term. There shall be no limit to the number of terms an EXCO member can serve.

2.3 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF EXCO

- 2.3.1. The Executive Committee (EXCO) members shall be, responsible for the implementation of SAIA's objectives, vision, mission and values under the leadership of the Chairperson.
- 2.3.2. The Chairperson shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of SAIA, responsible for the control and management of the business and affairs of SAIA, including serving as Chairperson of EXCO and manage the activities of all committees of SAIA.

- 2.3.3. Apart from serving as members of the EXCO, other EXCO members shall be allocated the Chairpersonship of -SAIA's different standing committees as outlined in Section 4 of this Chapter II.
- 2.3.4. With the future approval of the Board of Directors the Chairperson shall have the discretion to appoint or co-opt other directors and ordinary members of SAIA to serve in any position or capacity on behalf of SAIA, provided that such position or capacity is not subject to election in terms of SAIA's Constitution.

SECTION 3: ADMINISTRATION

3.1 POWERS OF THE NATIONAL SECRETARY

The day to day administration of SAIA shall vest in the office of the National Secretary, under the supervision of the Chairperson.

3.2 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE NATIONAL SECRETARY

- 3.2.1 The National Secretary shall be the chief administrative officer of SAIA and shall perform such other duties as may be delegated to him or her by the Board of Directors through the Chairperson.
- 3.2.2 The Chairperson and Board of Directors may employ such other persons as may be necessary from time to time to conduct the administration activities of SAIA.
- 3.2.3 The National Secretary shall serve as the Secretary of the Board of Directors.
- 3.2.4 The National Secretary shall be an ex-officio member and Secretary of all SAIA's standing committees.
- 3.2.5 The National Secretary shall receive and deposit all monies paid to SAIA and keep the accounts of SAIA under the supervision of the Financial Director.
- 3.2.6 The National Secretary shall keep all the records, including correspondence of SAIA.
- 3.2.7. The National Secretary shall keep the minutes of all EXCO and Board of Directors meetings as well as the minutes of the AGM.

SECTION 4: COMMITTEES

4.1. STANDING COMMITTEES, MEMBERS AND TERM OF OFFICE

- 4.1.1. SAIA shall have a total of 7 (seven) standing committees as listed in sub-section 4.2 of this Chapter II.
- 4.1.2. The Chairperson, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, may appoint such other committees, ad hoc or permanently, as he or she and (EXCO) deem necessary.
- 4.1.3. The nature, duties and responsibilities of SAIA's committees shall be such as their names suggest by general usage, or such as may be assigned to them by the Chairpersons, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, from time to time.
- 4.1.4. The Board of Directors shall appoint members of standing and ad hoc committees, including the Chairpersons of such committees. The provisions of this clause 4.1.4 notwithstanding, only members of the Board of Directors shall be eligible to serve as Chairpersons of standing and ad hoc committees of SAIA.

4.1.5. All members of standing and ad hoc committees, including any Chairperson so appointed in terms of clause 4.1.4 of this Section 4 of Chapter II, shall serve for a **2** (two) year term or until their successors are appointed.

4.2. NATURE, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMMITTEES

4.2.1. **EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)**

The EXCO outlined in Section 2 of this Chapter II, shall consist of the 5 (five) elected EXCO members referred to in clause 2.2.2 of this Chapter II and 1 (one) Ex-officio member who shall be the National Secretary of SAIA. The EXCO shall control and manage SAIA's business and affairs, including the implementation of SAIA's objectives, vision, mission and values. The Chairperson shall serve as Chairperson of the EXCO.

4.2.2. GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (GOVCOM):

The GOVCOM shall be responsible for SAIA's constitutional matters, including the code of ethics and elections. The Vice Chairperson shall serve as Chairperson of the GOVCOM.

4.2.3. MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE (MEMBCOM):

The MEMBCOM shall be responsible for SAIA's membership affairs, including benefits and any general related membership matters. The Director of Memberships shall serve as Chairperson of the MC.

4.2.4. DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE (DISCOM):

The DISCOM shall be responsible for the enforcement of SAIA's Code of Conduct, including the resolution of complaints, grievances, conflicts and disputes, both internal (among SAIA's members) and external (involving members of the public).

4.2.5. FINANCE COMMITTEE (FINCOM):

The FINCOM shall be responsible for all financial functions of SAIA and shall serve as the Chairperson of the Finance Committee.

4.2.6. EDUCATION COMMITTEE (EDCOM)

The EDCOM shall be responsible for the design, development, implementation, monitoring and supervision of all educational initiatives and programs for the institute, including the determination of standards for qualification into the auctioneering profession. Qualifications for membership in the EDCOM shall include at least five (5) years continuous and uninterrupted experience and specialization within an area of the auctioneering profession.

4.2.7. PUBLIC RELATIONS (PR) AND EVENTS COMMITTEE

The PR and Events Committee shall be responsible for SAIA's public relations, including the organization and coordination of events such as SAIA's annual conference, competitions, fund-raising and other public affairs, activities as well as implementation of all marketing strategies of SAIA and all media related matters in strict accordance with SAIA's public relations and media policy. The PR Director shall serve as Chairperson of the PR.

4.2.7. STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS COMMITTEE (STAKECOM)

The STAKECOM shall be responsible for the lobbying and communication of SAIA's objectives to all tiers of lawmakers and government in the Republic of South Africa, including the National Parliament, Provincial Parliaments, Mayoral Committees, National Government, Provincial Governments, Municipalities and other public sector institutes such as Parastatals and NGO's.

SECTION 5: ELECTIONS

5.1 PURPOSE OF THE SUB-SECTION

The purpose of this Section 5 is to prescribe the procedure that shall be followed by SAIA during the election of directors and EXCO members.

5.2 NOMINATIONS AND CAMPAIGNING

- 5.2.1 All active members of SAIA, of good standing, shall be eligible for nomination and election for positions of director and EXCO member.
- 5.2.2 Nominations of members for positions of director and EXCO member shall be submitted to the Chairperson of the GOVCOM in writing on or before 15th February. Each nomination form shall be signed and seconded by active members of SAIA, of good standing, and accepted by the candidate. No further nominations shall be accepted after the stipulated date except by the GOVCOM in terms of the provisions of clause 5.2.3 of this Chapter II or by way of condonation of late nominations by a majority vote at the AGM
- 5.2.3 In the event that insufficient nominations are submitted to fill all the vacant positions of directors and EXCO members or nominated candidates are disqualified prior to the AGM, the GOVCOM shall solicit qualified candidates from SAIA's membership. Either way, it shall be the responsibility of the GOVCOM to present sufficient candidates for all vacant positions of directors and EXCO members at each AGM. All nominations must be seconded by another member
- 5.2.4 The GOVCOM shall prescribe a set of structured questions for each duly nominated candidate to complete, in order to establish each candidate's profile and to determine each candidate's experience and preferred role.
- 5.2.5 Nomination lists together with the candidate's responses to the structured questions shall be presented to the Board of Directors for ratification at its scheduled meeting in **February** after which the GOVCOM shall produce an election publication with the candidates' profiles and responses for consideration by the entire membership prior to the AGM.

- 5.2.6 Candidates shall be allowed to campaign for election, including the use of promotional material and advertisement to canvass for support among the general membership of SAIA.
- 5.2.7 Candidates standing for election for positions of director shall be given the opportunity to address the AGM for a maximum of three (3) minutes prior to the elections. Candidates standing for election for positions of EXCO shall be allowed to address the AGM for a maximum of five (5) minutes prior to the elections.

5.3. REQUIREMENTS FOR ELECTIONS AND VOTING

- 5.3.1. Every active natural member of SAIA will have 1 (one) vote per candidate.
- 5.3.2. Except otherwise provided herein, elections and voting shall be on a show of hands unless a poll by secret ballot is demanded by at least 2 (two) members before such vote.
- 5.3.3. Absent natural members of SAIA in good standing shall be entitled to nominate a proxy to vote in their place during elections, provided such a proxy is signed on the official form prescribed by SAIA and lodged with the Chairperson of the GOVCOM, 48 (forty eight) hours prior to the AGM. Any proxy received after the stipulated date shall not be accepted unless by way of condonation of late submission by a majority vote at the AGM.
- 5.3.4. Candidates standing for election for positions of EXCO members require a majority of the legal votes to be declared elected. Should none of the candidates receive a majority of the legal votes cast, the candidate with lowest number of votes shall be dropped and another vote shall be taken to determine the successful candidate for that position. Voting shall continue until one candidate receives a majority of the legal votes cast to be declared elected.
- 5.3.5. Candidates standing for election for positions of director shall be elected by popularity vote. In the case of a tie, for the final position or positions, a run-off vote shall be held.
- 5.3.6. Newly elected directors and EXCO members shall assume office at the close of the AGM
- 5.3.7. If there are more than 2 (two) nominations for any position, the voting shall follow the preferential Electoral College System.

CHAPTER III

MEMBERSHIP – CLASSES, QUALIFICATIONS, APPLICATIONS (RESPONSIBILITY AND DUTY), CERTIFICATES, CHANGES AND NOTICES

SECTION 1: CLASSES OF MEMBERSHIP

The following classes of membership shall be available to juristic or natural persons:

1.1 NATURAL MEMBERSHIP

This category of membership is available to eligible natural persons in their personal capacity; who qualify for natural membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only natural persons who are actively involved in the auctioneering industry and have practised as natural candidate members or worked within an auction environment for an uninterrupted period of at least 12 (twelve) months are eligible for admittance to this category of membership

1.2 CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP

This category of membership is available to duly authorised registered companies, close corporations and any other juristic body lawfully recognized as a legal entity who qualify for corporate membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only juristic entities that are managed and controlled by natural persons who qualify and have already been granted natural membership status by SAIA in terms of clause 1.1 above are eligible for admittance to this category of membership.

1.3 NATURAL CANDIDATE MEMBERSHIP

This category of membership is available to eligible natural persons in their individual capacity; who qualify for natural candidate membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only natural persons who are actively involved within the auctioneering industry and are working towards the completion of an uninterrupted period of at least 12 (twelve) months in order to qualify as a natural member are eligible for admittance to this category of membership.

1.4. CORPORATE CANIDATE MEMBER

This category of membership is available to eligible corporate entities in their juristic capacity; who qualify for Corporate Candidate Membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only juristic entities that are actively involved within the auctioneering industry and are working towards the completion of an uninterrupted period of at least 12 (twelve) months in order to qualify as a corporate member are eligible for admittance to this category of membership.

1.5 ASSOCIATE MEMBERSHIP

This category of membership is available to natural persons in their individual capacity and/ or juristic entities; who are eligible for associate

membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only employees of natural members, corporate members, natural candidate members and corporate candidate members such as bid spotters/ assistants, clerks. Cashiers, marketers and other support staff are eligible for admittance to this category of membership.

1.6 HONOURARY MEMBERSHIP

This category of membership is available to eligible natural persons in their individual capacity who qualify for honorary membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only natural persons who have made a great contribution or are likely to contribute to the welfare and advancement of the auctioneering industry are eligible for admittance to this category of membership irrespective of whether they are auctioneers or not. Honorary membership is usually granted for life.

1.7. AFFILIATE MEMBER

This category of membership is available to natural persons in their individual capacity and/ or juristic entities, who are eligible for affiliate membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time. Apart from other qualifying criteria, only natural persons or juristic entities that are involved in auction related businesses; either as clients or suppliers such as financial institutions, insolvency practitioners, attorneys, trading partners such as media, insurance, etc are eligible for admittance to this category of membership.

1.8 RETIRED MEMBER

This category of membership is available for any active member over the age of 65, who are eligible for retired membership in terms of the criteria determined by SAIA from time to time and conducts 12 or fewer auctions per year and who has been an active member of SAIA for at least 5 (five) years.

1.9 VOTING RIGHTS

Only natural members and Retired Members will have full voting rights whether in person or by proxy in terms of the provisions of SAIA's constitution.

1.10 SAIA'S LOGO

Registered members who are in good standing and in respect of whom there has been no suspension of membership for any reason whatsoever, excluding candidate and associate members will be entitled to use SAIA's logo.

1.11 CERTIFICATE OF MEMBERSHIP

A certificate of membership will be issued to every member specifying the name of the member, membership category, membership number and nature of auction speciality if applicable.

SECTION 2: QUALIFICATIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP

In order for any member to be considered for initial membership or renewed membership of SAIA, such applicant must comply with the following essential prerequisites (provided that SAIA shall be entitled in its sole and absolute discretion to depart from such prerequisites):

- 2.1. If it is a natural person, said person must be regarded by the Board of Directors as having an acceptable amount of experience in the auctioneering profession, which shall not amount to less than a period of 1 (one) year in respect of uninterrupted practice in the auctioneering profession.
- 2.2. If it is a Juristic Person, it must be registered in accordance with the Close Corporation or Company or Trust Laws of the Republic of South Africa, have auctioneering as its main objective, and be managed or controlled by natural persons who will not, in the sole determination of the Board of Directors, be disqualified from natural membership, irrespective of whether they apply for such membership or not.
- 2.3. Be regarded as a fit and proper person for membership of SAIA.
- 2.4. Shall not be an un-rehabilitated Insolvent or a legal entity or juristic person under judicial management; or provisionally or finally liquidated.
- 2.5. Have no civil judgements by default or criminal records of a fraudulent or dishonest nature against any Natural Member or director or member of any corporate member.
- 2.6. The applicant shall not be involved in any disputes which are, in the reasonable assessment of the Board of Directors, likely to bring SAIA into disrepute.
- 2.7. The directors, members or shareholders of any Corporate member and/or natural member must not have been dismissed from any positions of trust on account of misconduct.
- 2.8. The applicant is under a duty to disclose all information which may directly or indirectly impact upon the applicant's entitlement to membership, including but not limited to a disclosure of any previous criminal record, civil judgements, insolvency, etc.
- 2.9. The applicant must not have breached the SAIA Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics and/or the Constitution of SAIA in any respect.
- 2.10. The applicant is obliged to complete the requisite form required by the fidelity insurance fund underwriters of SAIA and to make full and complete disclosure therein of all aspects related to the applicant which might impact upon the fidelity insurance fund underwriters' acceptance or rejection of the risk.

SECTION 3: APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

3.1. An application for membership of SAIA shall be submitted to the National Secretary on the application form prescribed for this purpose from time to time in the format provided in Annexure "A" hereto, and be accompanied by payment of the prescribed application fee. In the event of application being made by a Corporate entity, such application shall be signed by the Managing Director thereof or the person charged with its affairs and shall be accompanied by a Company/Corporation/Trust resolution acknowledging itself bound by the terms of this Constitution and the Code of Conduct annexed hereto. The form of such resolution may from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors of SAIA. The National Secretary shall submit each application for membership to the Membership Committee. The Membership Committee shall give such advice and guidance as may be necessary to the National Secretary regarding new applications for membership of SAIA.

3.2. It shall be an essential requirement for membership of SAIA that a successful applicant signs the requisite documentation binding the applicant and all its employees to comply with the terms of the SAIA's Constitution and Code of Conduct.

3.3. MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE POWERS

The Membership Committee shall be entitled to accept or reject such application. In the event that such application is rejected details of such rejection shall be furnished to the Board of Directors of SAIA. In the event that such application is accepted it shall be forwarded to the Board of Directors, together with the report and recommendations of the Membership Committee on the prospective member. The Board of Directors shall at its next meeting consider all the applications and approve or reject it at its discretion. In the circumstances the decision of the Board of Directors in respect of the approval or rejection of all applications shall be discretionary and final, and there shall be no appeal therefrom. The date of acceptance of the applicant as a member shall be the date upon which the application is approved by the Board of Directors. The National Secretary shall notify the applicant of the result of the application.

3.4. Neither the Board of Directors nor the Membership Committee shall be bound to give reasons to any applicant for any decision taken in respect of any application for membership and the decision of the Board Directors shall be final and binding, and there shall be no appeal therefrom.

3.5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT, RESPONSIBILITY AND DUTIES OF MEMBERS

By making application for membership on the prescribed form, the applicant, whether for new membership or the renewal of current membership, and all members, are required to comply with the following obligations:-

- 3.5.1. to comply with this Constitution and the Code of Conduct annexed hereto, as amended from time to time, which the applicant accepts as binding upon it, and the applicant acknowledges that compliance therewith constitutes an essential requirement for membership of SAIA;
- 3.5.2. to ensure that all the applicant's employees and contractors comply with this Constitution and the Code of Conduct annexed hereto;
- 3.5.3. to timeously effect payment in full of prescribed subscription fees due to SAIA;
- 3.5.4. to promptly comply with all Court Orders pertaining to such applicant;
- 3.5.5. to promptly comply with all orders, directions, requirements or requests of the Board of Directors, Membership Committee or National Secretary;
- 3.5.6. to disclose within a reasonable period of time all information regarding any incident relating to his auctioneering business which may directly or indirectly impact upon his or her status as a member of SAIA or reflect adversely upon the auctioneering profession.
- 3.6 Every member who is the sole proprietor of an auctioneering business or a partner in a partnership or a director of a company or a member of a close corporation which carries on the business in an auctioneering profession acknowledges that he shall be held responsible for any contravention of or failure to comply with this Constitution or Code of Conduct by any other partner, director or member or by any other auctioneer or employee in the services of such proprietorship, partnership, company or close corporation, unless he has prior to such contravention or failure to comply, taken all reasonable steps to prevent the same, and could not in the circumstances have prevented such contravention or failure to comply.

SECTION 4: CERTIFICATE OF MEMBERSHIP

- 4.1. On the admission of a person or corporate body to membership and on receipt of the prescribed annual membership fee, he shall be issued with a certificate of membership in the form prescribed by SAIA, which certificate shall bear his full name or the full names of the corporate body and be signed by the Chairperson of SAIA, or in his absence by the Vice Chairperson.
- 4.2. A subsequent annual membership certificate shall be issued to a member in the same format as per clause 4.1 above, on receipt of a duly completed renewal of membership application form, accompanied by the prescribed payments and supporting documentation, if applicable. The notice for renewal of membership shall be sent out annually by the National Secretary to all members not less than 60 (sixty) days prior to expiry of the current membership.
- 4.3. Such certificate of membership shall at all times remain the property of SAIA and shall be liable to be returned to SAIA upon the termination of such membership for any reason whatsoever.
- 4.4. The certificate is to be signed by the member and prominently displayed at the place of business of the member.

SECTION 5: MEMBERSHIP NOT TRANSFERABLE

The rights and privileges of a member shall be personal to him, or in the event of a corporate entity to it, shall not be transferable to any other person either by the act of the member or in any other way and membership shall unless previously terminated automatically cease and terminate on the death or insolvency of a member or upon the liquidation or winding up of a corporate member.

SECTION 6: CHANGES IN CORPORATE IDENTITY

In the event that effective control of a member is altered, such member shall be obliged to notify the Board of Directors in writing, within 30 days of such change, and give full details of any such change to SAIA including but not limited to details pertaining to the appointment of new directors, or members or managers, the resignation of existing directors or members or managers and such other information as the Membership Committee may require. The Membership Committee might, in circumstances where effective control of a member of SAIA has been altered, require such member to submit a fresh application for membership to SAIA for consideration by the Board of Directors in accordance with this Constitution and may deal with that application in precisely the same manner in which any other application is dealt with save that the existing membership shall continue until such time as SAIA has rejected the fresh application for membership whereupon the previous membership shall immediately terminate.

SECTION 7: CHANGE OF ADDRESS

In the event that there is a change of address of any member, such a change must be notified to the National Secretary within 30 (thirty) days of the change.

SECTION 8: NOTICES

- 8.1. Any notice or other document may be served by SAIA upon any member by: -
- 8.1.1. delivering it to that member at the address of the member recorded in the register of members; or
- 8.1.2. sending it by post in the prepaid letter, envelope or wrapper addressed to such member at the address referred to in his application; or
- 8.1.3. facsimile,
- 8.2. Any member registered in the register of members at an address not within South Africa who from time to time furnishes SAIA with an address within South Africa at which notices can be served on him, shall be entitled to have notices served upon him at such address.
- 8.3. Save as determined in the Articles of Association of SAIA or the Companies Act, Act Number 61 of 1973 as amended ("the Act"), no member other than a registered member whose address appears in the register of members of SAIA shall be entitled to receive any notice from SAIA.

CHAPTER IV

COMPLAINTS, MEDIATION, ENQUIRIES, SANCTIONS, COSTS, APPEAL, RECOVERY OF FINES AND COSTS ORDERS

SECTION 1: COMPLAINTS & ADJUDICATION OF DISPUTES

- 1.1. Any member or any other natural or juristic person or any authority or voluntary association including any user of any member's auctioneering services who feel aggrieved by any act or omission of a member may lodge a complaint with SAIA.
- 1.2. A complaint must be addressed to SAIA and shall:
- 1.2.1. be in writing:
- 1.2.2. contain the name and address of the complainant and of the member insofar as that is known to the complainant;
- 1.2.3. contain details of the conduct complained of; and
- 1.2.4. be signed by or on behalf of the complainant.
- 1.3. SAIA may of its own accord formulate a complaint in the same manner if on good cause it has reason to believe that the conduct of a member may constitute conduct deserving of sanction.

SECTION 2: CONSIDERATION OF COMPLAINTS & INVESTIGATION THEREOF

- 2.1. The Board of Directors may:
- 2.1.1. on receipt of a complaint request the complainant to furnish it with such further information in the form of an affidavit or otherwise as it deems necessary;
- 2.1.2. refer the complaint, if appropriate, to any other relevant body or authority;
- 2.1.3. carry out or cause to be carried out any investigation in respect of the complaint as it deems necessary or appropriate; and
- 2.1.4. notify the member in writing of the complaint and simultaneously with such notification:
- 2.1.4.1. furnish the member with a copy of the complaint in question;
- 2.1.4.2. request the member in writing to furnish SAIA with his or her comments on the complaint, if any, within 14 (fourteen) days; and
- 2.1.4.3. advise the member that the comments furnished to SAIA in this instance and in this context shall not be used against him/her if an enquiry is held.
- 2.2. If SAIA is of the opinion that there is insufficient evidence to substantiate a complaint or that there is no reasonable likelihood that a disciplinary committee would find that the conduct complained of, even if proven, constitutes conduct deserving of sanction, SAIA shall in writing notify:
- 2.2.1. the complainant; and
- 2.2.2. the member, of the fact that the matter will not be proceeded with by SAIA.
- 2.2.3. SAIA may at any time and on good cause withdraw a complaint formulated by it in terms of its rights hereinbefore stated and will thereafter notify the member of such decision in writing if that member has already received notification of the complaint in terms of the rule hereinbefore stated.
- 2.2.4. Notwithstanding that SAIA may have withdrawn a complaint and only after notification to the complainant and the member, SAIA may reopen the matter or revoke the withdrawal of the complaint as the case may be if new evidence has become available which, in the opinion of SAIA, justifies such reopening or revocation.

SECTION 3: MEDIATION

- 3.1. SAIA may at any time attempt to resolve any dispute between the complainant and the member based upon the complaint, by inviting the complainant and the member to participate in mediation proceedings.
- 3.2. Neither the complainant nor the member shall be obliged to participate in mediation proceedings and nothing said or done by either party in an attempt to settle the dispute through mediation shall be used in evidence at an enquiry.
- 3.3. No person who acts as a mediator in terms of this regulation may serve as a member of the committee to enquire into a charge based on or relating to a complaint which was the subject of mediation proceedings before such mediator or act as a prosecutor at any such enquiry.
- 3.4. The complainant and the member shall each be liable for their own costs incurred in respect of the mediation proceedings.
- 3.5. Any costs incurred by SAIA in respect of the mediation proceedings and the appointment of a mediator shall be borne equally by the complainant and the member, <u>alternatively</u> by SAIA if SAIA in writing agrees to bear the costs of such mediation.

SECTION 4: FORMAL CHARGES

- 4.1. If SAIA is of the opinion that there is:
- 4.1.1. sufficient evidence to substantiate a complaint; and/or
- 4.1.2. a reasonable likelihood that a disciplinary committee will find that the complaint, if proved, constitutes conduct deserving of sanction, it may bring a charge against the respondent to be heard by a disciplinary committee.
- 4.2. A charge shall be in writing, be dated and shall:
- 4.2.1. contain the name and address of both the complainant and the accused member;
- 4.2.2. contain an exposition of the conduct deserving of sanction with which the member is charged;
- 4.2.3. be accompanied by:
- 4.2.3.1. a copy of the complaint on which the charge is based if that copy has not already been furnished to the member;
- 4.2.3.2. copies of all documents which are at that point in time in the possession of SAIA and which SAIA intends to submit in evidence at the enquiry;
- 4.2.4. Invite the member to furnish SAIA with an affidavit setting out his/her comments on the charge, if any, within 30 (thirty) days;
- 4.2.5. notify the member that he/she is under no obligation to respond or to make any comments envisaged in the aforestated affidavit and that any such comments may and shall be used as evidence against him/her at an enquiry; and
- 4.2.6. notify the member that should he/she admit the charge within thirty days, he/she:
- 4.2.6.1. will not be required to appear at an enquiry; and
- 4.2.6.2. in the case of admitting the charge, may within 30 (thirty) days furnish SAIA with a written statement setting forth any mitigating circumstances.
- 4.3. SAIA may at any time and on good cause withdraw a charge and shall forthwith thereafter in writing notify the complainant and the implicated member of its decision and the reason therefor.
- 4.4. A charge contemplated in this section and any notification referred to in this section shall be delivered to the member personally or be sent to him/her by prepaid registered post at his/her business or residential address on record at SAIA.

- 4.5. If a respondent admits the charge as framed:
- 4.5.1. SAIA shall deliver to a disciplinary committee a copy of the charge and any statements furnished:
- 4.5.2. the disciplinary committee shall consider the charge and the member's statements, if any, and if it is satisfied that the conduct complained of constitutes conduct deserving of sanction and that the member is found guilty of such conduct, it shall:
- 4.2.2.1. find the member guilty on such charge; and
- 4.5.2.2. impose an appropriate penalty, having due regard to the member's statement;
- 4.5.3. SAIA shall in writing notify the complainant and the member of the disciplinary committee's decision referred to.

SECTION 5: THE INSTITUTE'S POWERS AND DUTIES IN RESPECT OF AN ENQUIRY

- 5.1. SAIA:
- 5.1.1. may appoint any person including any legal representative, or designate any staff member of SAIA or committee member of the Board of Directors to perform the specific functions entrusted to a prosecutor in a disciplinary enquiry;
- 5.1.2. shall cause the proceedings to be recorded;
- 5.1.3. shall appoint, at its discretion, either a member of the Board of Directors or a practising attorney or advocate as the chairperson of the disciplinary committee.
- 5.2. The disciplinary committee may be constituted solely by a practising attorney or advocate, <u>alternatively</u> no less than three members of the Board of Directors. In the event that a practising attorney or advocate is appointed as chairperson, such practising attorney or practising advocate shall have the right to co-opt a maximum of two persons to assist him or her as assessors in the disciplinary enquiry.

SECTION 6: PROCEEDINGS AT THE ENQUIRY

- 6.1. At the commencement of an enquiry, the chairperson of the disciplinary committee shall ask the accused member to plead guilty or not guilty to the charge as set out in the written charge served on the member and the plea shall be recorded.
- 6.2. If the implicated member refuses or fails to plead to the charge, a plea of not guilty shall be recorded.
- 6.3. An implicated member is entitled to be assisted at an enquiry by a legal representative.
- 6.4. SAIA is entitled to present its evidence to the committee by means of a *pro forma* prosecutor, which prosecutor may either be a member of the Board of Directors or a practising attorney or practising advocate.
- 6.5. Evidence at an enquiry may be given orally or be tendered by way of affidavits. All evidence shall be evaluated according to its probative value.
- 6.6. The chairperson of the committee shall administer an oath to or accept an affirmation from any person called to give evidence.
- 6.7. If the implicated member has pleaded guilty to the charge and the disciplinary committee is satisfied:
- 6.7.1. that the charge can be disposed of without hearing evidence;
- 6.7.2. that the act or omission with which the member is charged constitutes conduct deserving of sanction; and

- 6.7.3. the member is guilty as charged, it shall find the member guilty and such finding shall either be made known at the enquiry or be conveyed in writing to the Institute by the chairperson of the disciplinary committee within 14 (fourteen) days of the date of the member's plea whereafter SAIA shall in writing notify both the implicated member and the complainant of the finding.
- 6.8. If the member has pleaded not guilty to the charge, or if the disciplinary committee decides to hear evidence on the charge notwithstanding a plea of guilty, the procedure to be followed in respect of the enquiry shall be determined by the Chairperson of the disciplinary committee, having due regard to the requirements and principles of natural justice.
- 6.9. The disciplinary committee may:
- 6.9.1. proceed inquisitorially to ascertain the relevant facts and may at any stage during the enquiry question the complainant, the member and any witness on any matter it considers relevant:
- 6.9.2. allow the prosecutor (if appointed) to present evidence in support of the charge and to cross-examine the member and any witness called by the member; and
- 6.9.3. allow the member or, if applicable, the member's legal representative, to present evidence rebutting the charge and to cross-examine any witness called by the prosecutor.
- 6.10. In respect of each charge the disciplinary committee shall find the member either guilty or not guilty.
- 6.11. The committee's decision in respect of guilt or otherwise shall either be made known at the enquiry or be conveyed in writing to SAIA by the chairperson within fourteen (14) days after all evidence in respect of the charge has been heard.
- 6.12. SAIA shall forthwith after obtaining the disciplinary committee's decision in writing notify the complainant and the member of the decision.
- 6.13. If the disciplinary committee has found the member guilty of conduct deserving of sanction, it shall:
- 6.13.2. determine whether the member has previously been convicted of a charge deserving of sanction;
- 6.13.2. give the member the opportunity of adducing evidence in mitigation;
- 6.13.3. give the member and the prosecutor the opportunity of addressing the disciplinary committee and/or leading evidence which is relevant to the appropriate penalty to be imposed.
- 6.14. After the aforestated opportunities have been given to the member or his/her legal representative, and the prosecutor, the disciplinary committee shall deliberate to determine the appropriate penalty to be imposed on the member.
- 6.15. The disciplinary committee shall in writing notify the Institute and SAIA shall in writing then notify the complainant and the member of the penalty imposed on the member by the committee.
- 6.16. Nothing contained in these provisions shall prevent the committee, in order to properly perform any of its functions in terms of these regulations, from obtaining such legal or other advice and consult such person/s as it may deem necessary or appropriate.

SECTION 7: SANCTION

In the event of the disciplinary committee at the conclusion of the enquiry finding the member guilty, it shall have the power to impose one or more of the following sanctions:

- 7.1. declare that no action or sanction be imposed;
- 7.2. caution the member found guilty;
- 7.3. reprimand the member accused;
- 7.4. impose a fine within the range of a minimum fine of R5 000, 00 to a maximum fine of R20 000,00;
- 7.5. suspend any sanction for such period and on such conditions as the disciplinary committee may consider appropriate;
- 7.6. suspend the membership of such member for any period that the committee may deem appropriate and on such conditions as the disciplinary committee may consider appropriate;
- 7.7. cancel the member's membership with immediate effect and expel such member from SAIA.

SECTION 8: COSTS

The disciplinary committee in its exercise of its discretion may in appropriate circumstances direct that the member is liable to pay to SAIA the costs incurred in respect of the disciplinary enquiry, including but not limited to the costs of the employment of a prosecutor who is a practising advocate and attorney and the employment of a chairperson of the disciplinary committee who is a practising advocate or attorney.

SECTION 9: APPEAL

- 9.1. Any member found guilty as well as any complainant who is aggrieved by a finding made by the disciplinary committee and provided that the complainant is a member of SAIA, shall have the right to appeal against the decision of the disciplinary committee within a period of 30 (thirty) days from the date of written notification of the outcome of the disciplinary hearing.
- 9.2. The person appealing ("the appellant") must deliver to SAIA a notice dated and signed by the appellant containing the following particulars:
- 9.2.1. the name, postal address, telephone number and facsimile number of the appellant;
- 9.2.2. the place where and the dates when the appellant or the complainant appeared before the committee of enquiry;
- 9.2.3. whether the appeal is lodged in respect of:
- 9.2.3.1. the decision finding the member charged not guilty of conduct deserving of sanction;
- 9.2.3.2. the decision finding the member guilty of conduct deserving of sanction;
- 9.2.3.3. the penalty imposed by the disciplinary committee;
- 9.2.3.4. any other aspect of the disciplinary committee's decision or the proceedings at the disciplinary enquiry which are not mentioned above.
- 9.2.4. the decision sought from SAIA.
- 9.3. The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a deposit in the sum of R2 000, 00.

- 9.4. The notice of appeal must be delivered to the Institute not later than 30 (thirty) days after the committee of the disciplinary enquiry has furnished the appellant with the reasons for its decision in respect of guilt and/or sanction.
- 9.5. SAIA must after receipt of the notice of appeal deliver a copy thereof to:
- 9.5.1. the member charged, where the member is not the appellant;
- 9.5.2. the complainant, where the complainant is not the appellant.
- 9.6. A notice not containing the particulars referred to above and/or not accompanied by the amount of deposit referred to above is not a valid notice of appeal and delivery thereof to SAIA has no effect.
- 9.7. After receipt of the notice of appeal, SAIA must determine the date upon which the appeal will be heard, which date should not be later than 45 (forty five) days after the appeal has been lodged.
- 9.8. SAIA shall notify the appellant and the member charged (where the member is not the appellant) of the date of the appeal hearing and invite them to be present at the hearing to submit oral or written arguments to SAIA should they wish to do so.
- 9.9. SAIA shall invite the complainant to attend the appeal hearing where the complainant is not the appellant.
- 9.10. The appeal shall be heard by an appeal committee which may consist solely of a practising advocate or attorney and three members of the Board of Directors. Any practising attorney or advocate or member of the Board of Directors who took part in the initial disciplinary enquiry shall be disqualified from sitting on the appeal committee.
- 9.11. The appeal will take the form of a reconsideration of the merits of the charge faced by the member before the disciplinary committee of enquiry but shall be combined to the record of that enquiry. Neither the appellant nor the member charged (where that member is not the appellant) may introduce new facts that were not raised before the disciplinary committee of enquiry.
- 9.12. The appellant, the member charged and the complainant may attend the hearing of the appeal with or without a legal representative.
- 9.13. SAIA is entitled to be represented by a case presenter, which case presenter may either be a member of the Board of Directors or a practising attorney or practising advocate.
- 9.14. At the hearing the appeal committee shall give the appellant the first opportunity to present argument in support of the appeal where after the appeal committee must allow the member charged the opportunity to reply (where such member is not the appellant) if the member is present at the hearing or represented. In addition, the appeal committee shall ask the case presenter (if appointed) to make submissions to the appeal committee.
- 9.15. The appeal committee may put questions to the appellant and the complainant (if they are present at the hearing or represented) on any matter relevant to the appeal.
- 9.16. The chairperson of the appeal may give directions in respect of the procedure to be followed at the hearing of the appeal with due regard to the principles of natural justice.
- 9.17. The appeal committee may proceed with the hearing in the absence of the appellant, the member charged and the complainant if any of them for whatever reasons fails to attend the appeal hearing after having been invited by SAIA to do so.
- 9.18. SAIA must arrive at a decision in respect of the appeal having regard to all relevant considerations including:
- 9.18.1. the arguments and submissions presented to it at the hearing, if any;
- 9.18.2. the record;
- 9.18.3. the reasons given by the committee of enquiry for its decision:
- 9.18.4. any papers or affidavits filed before the disciplinary committee;

- 9.18.5. the replies given to the questions (if any) put by SAIA to the appellant, the member charged and the complainant (as the case may be);
- 9.18.6. legal and other advice obtained by the appeal committee.
- 9.19. The appeal committee's decision shall be conveyed in writing to SAIA who shall then convey the decision in writing to the appellant, the member charged and the complainant (as the case may be).
- 9.20. The decision of the appeal committee shall be final.

SECTION 10: RECOVERY OF FINES AND COSTS ORDERS

- 10.1. Any fine imposed in terms of this Constitution pursuant to a disciplinary enquiry shall, unless an appeal has been noted against such penalty, be paid to SAIA within 14 (fourteen) calendar days after the imposition thereof, or within such extended periods and in such instalments as the disciplinary or appeal committee may in its discretion determine.
- 10.2. Any cost order made by the disciplinary committee and, if applicable, confirmed by the appeal committee shall:
- 10.2.1. In the event of such order being made against the member, be paid by the member to SAIA within 14 (fourteen) days after the amount thereof has been fixed;
- 10.2.2. In the event of such order being made against the complainant, who is a member of SAIA, be paid to SAIA within 14 (fourteen) days after the amount thereof has been fixed or within such extended period and in such instalments as the disciplinary committee or the appeal committee may in its discretion determine.
- 10.3. In the event of the fine and/or cost order not being paid timeously in terms hereof, SAIA shall cause a final written demand to be served upon the member or the complainant who is also a member of SAIA calling for payment of the amount determined in respect of the costs as well as the amount of the fine within 3 (three) days, failing which the membership of the member will be *ipso facto* terminated.

CHAPTER V

APPLICATION FEES, SUBSCRIPTIONS LEVIES AND FINANCES

SECTION 1: APPLICATION FEES

- 1.1. When applying for new membership, an application fee, to be determined by the Board of Directors, is to be forwarded together with the prescribed application forms.
- 1.2. Should a member not apply for renewal of membership within 30 (thirty) days of the date of expiry of membership, any application for "renewal" after such period will constitute a new application for membership, which must be accompanied by the application fee.

SECTION 2: SUBSCRIPTIONS

An annual subscription shall be payable to SAIA by every member, , the amount of which shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors of SAIA. The amount of such annual subscription and any other fees payable to SAIA shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors by resolution and shall be payable in such manner and on such dates as the resolution may prescribe.

SECTION 3: LEVIES

The Board of Directors shall further have the right from time to time by a special resolution passed by not less than seventy five percent of the members present at the Annual general Meeting or special meeting duly convened to impose a special levy on each member when circumstances warrant the same.

SECTION 4: FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OF SAIA

- 4.1. SAIA will at all times operate a current bank account.
- 4.2. Signatories will be decided on an annual basis by the Board of Directors.
- 4.3. No cheques with less than 2 (two) signatures shall be issued.
- 4.4. No blank cheques may be issued.
- 4.5. An annual budget must be set up by the Director of the Finance Committee and presented to the Board of Directors at the second meeting after the AGM.
- 4.6. Proper financial statements must be kept at all times.
- 4.7. Each member will be compelled to institute a debit order for the purposes of paying his annual subscription fees. Those members deciding not to institute a debit order have to pay the full amount 12 (twelve) months compared to the debit order, in advance on request.
- 4.8. The financial year of SAIA will run from the 1st day of March until the last day of February the following year.
- 4.9. Audited/ certified financial statements will be presented by the FD at every Annual General Meeting of SAIA.
- 4.10. At every AGM auditors/financial officers will be appointed for the ensuing year.

- Any Directors of the Board of Directors shall not without the sanction of a majority vote 4.11. by the whole board be allowed to:
- 4.11.1. Borrow any money4.11.2. Invest funds other than with an accredited and approved financial institution agreed upon by the Board of Directors or at call with any of the South African registered banks.
- 4.11.3. Institute any legal proceedings on behalf of SAIA.

CHAPTER VI

MEETINGS, NOTICES, QUORUMS, RESOLUTIONS AND RECORDS

SECTION 1: ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)

- 1.1. SAIA shall hold its AGM before 1 April of each calendar year at such time, date and place as shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 1.2. The Chairperson of SAIA, or in his absence, the Vice Chairperson, or in the absence of the two of them, any other director chosen by the directors present shall preside at an AGM.
- 1.3. Voting members shall be given at least 21 (twenty one) days notice of the AGM, by written notice stating the date, day and time of the AGM. Such notice shall be deemed to have been received by each active member of SAIA 7 (seven) days after postage thereof or successful transmission by facsimile or email.
- 1.4. The Board of Directors shall determine the agenda for the AGM. Active members wishing to contribute items for consideration at an AGM shall give 34 (thirty four) days notice to the National Secretary of SAIA. Standing items for consideration at the AGM of SAIA shall include a report by the Chairperson which shall include reports from all standing and ad hoc committees of the institute, a report by the Financial Director, a report by the National Secretary and election of Directors as well as election of the Auditors of SAIA and approval of the Financial Statements of SAIA.
- 1.5. A quorum for a duly convened AGM of SAIA shall be at least 20% (twenty percent) of active natural membership. Should a quorum not be present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for an AGM, no business shall be dealt with, and such AGM meeting shall be adjourned until further notice, which notice shall be issued by the Board of Directors.
- 1.6. Natural members of the institute in good standing shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote in person at the AGM. Other categories of members of SAIA such as honorary, associate, affiliate, candidate, and any other category other than Natural members and Retired Members shall not be entitled to vote. Notwithstanding the provisions clause 5.3.3 of Section 5 of Chapter II, absent members shall not be permitted to vote by proxy or otherwise on any matter under the consideration at the AGM. The entitlement for members to vote by proxy provided for in clause 5.3.3. of Section 5 of Chapter II only applies to the election of candidates for the positions of directors and EXCO members.

SECTION 2: SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING (SGM)

- 2.1. Special general meetings (SGM) of SAIA for any purpose whatsoever may be called by the Chairperson, Board of Directors or at the written request of at least 10% (ten percent) of the active members of SAIA.
- 2.2. The Chairperson of SAIA, in his absence, the Vice Chairperson, or in the absence of the two of them, any other director chosen by the directors present shall preside at a SGM.
- 2.3. Voting members shall be given at least 21 (twenty one) days notice of the SGM, by written notice stating the date, day and time of the SGM. Such notice shall be deemed to have been received by each active member of SAIA 7 (seven) days after postage thereof or successful transmission by facsimile or email.

- 2.4. Only those items specified in the notice for an SGM shall be considered and concluded at such a SGM.
- 2.5. A quorum for a duly convened SGM of SAIA shall be at least 20% (twenty percent) of active natural membership. Should a quorum not be present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for a SGM, no business shall be dealt with, and such SGM meeting shall be adjourned until the same day, time and place in the forthcoming week. Should such a day be a public holiday, the meeting will be postponed to the next business day. Should a quorum not be present within 30 (thirty) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for the adjourned SGM, the members present shall be deemed to constitute a quorum and the meeting shall be deemed to be duly constituted.
- 2.6. Only Natural members of SAIA in good standing shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote in person at the SGM. Other categories of members of SAIA such as honorary, associate, affiliate, candidate, and any other category other than Natural and Retired Members shall not be entitled to vote. Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 5.3.3 of Section 5 of Chapter II, absent members shall not be permitted to vote by proxy or otherwise on any matter under the consideration at the SGM. The entitlement for members to vote by proxy provided for in clause 5.3.3 of Section 5 of Chapter II only applies to the election of candidates for the positions of Directors and EXCO members.

SECTION 3: BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS

- 3.1. There shall be a minimum of 4 (four) scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors annually, the first of which shall be held immediately after the Annual General Meeting (AGM) every year to induct newly elected directors and to prepare the annual program of SAIA.
- 3.2. The other 3 (three) Board of Directors meetings shall be held quarterly thereafter.
- 3.3 The Chairperson, or in his absence, the Vice Chairperson, or in the absence of the two of them, any other director chosen by the directors present shall preside at a meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 3.4. Notice for scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given at least 21 (twenty one) days prior to such meetings.
- 3.5. Notice for special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given at least 21 (twenty one) working days prior to such meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairperson or requested by any 4 (four) directors.
- 3.6. Only those items specified in the notice for a special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be considered and concluded at such a Board Meeting.
- 3.7. A quorum at any meeting of the Board of Directors, scheduled or special, shall be constituted by not less than 5 (five) directors. Should a quorum not be present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for a meeting of the Board of Directors, no business shall be dealt with, and such meeting of the Board of Directors shall be adjourned until the same day, time and place in the forthcoming week. Should such a day be a public holiday, the meeting will be postponed to the next business day. Should a quorum not be present within thirty (30) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for the adjourned meeting of the Board of Directors, the members present shall be deemed to constitute a quorum and the meeting shall be deemed to be duly constituted.

- 3.8. Decisions and resolutions of the majority of all the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is constituted shall be carried as duly authorised decisions or resolutions of the Board of Directors. Absent directors shall not be permitted to vote by proxy at any meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 3.9. A director of SAIA who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors at which a decision or resolution is taken shall be presumed to have assented to such decision or resolution taken, unless his or her dissent shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting or unless he or she files his or her written dissent to such a decision or resolution with the Secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof, or undertakes to forward such dissent to the Secretary immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favour of the decision or resolution during the meeting.
- 3.10. The absence of any director from 2 (two) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors without a valid reason shall be construed as voluntary resignation from the directorship of SAIA, and the Board of Directors may declare such a director's position vacant and deal with it in terms of clauses 1.2.5. and 1.2.6. of Section 1 of Chapter II.

SECTION 4: EXCO MEETINGS (EXCO)

- 4.1. There shall be a minimum of 7 (seven) scheduled meetings of EXCO. No Exco Meetings shall be held in December or during the month scheduled for the meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 4.2. The Chairperson of SAIA, or in his absence, the Vice Chairperson, or in the absence of the two of them, members of the EXCO in attendance at a duly convened meeting where a quorum is present shall nominate one person among themselves to serve as Chairperson for such a meeting.
- 4.3. Notice for scheduled meetings of the EXCO shall be given at least 7 (seven) days prior to such meetings.
- 4.4. A quorum at any meeting of EXCO shall be constituted by not less 3 (three) EXCO members excluding the National Secretary. Should a quorum not be present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for an EXCO meeting, no business shall be dealt with, and such EXCO shall be adjourned until the same day, time and place in the forthcoming week. Should such a day be a public holiday, the meeting will be postponed to the next business day. Should a quorum not be present within 30 (thirty) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for the adjourned EXCO meeting, the members present shall be deemed to constitute a quorum and the meeting shall be deemed to be duly constituted.
- 4.5. All decisions and resolutions made by the EXCO shall be subject to the ratification and approval of the Board of Directors.
- 4.6. An EXCO member who is present at an EXCO meeting at which a decision or resolution is taken shall be presumed to have assented to such decision or resolution taken, unless his or her dissent shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting or unless he or she files his or her written dissent to such a decision or resolution with the Secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof, or undertakes to forward such dissent to the Secretary immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favour of the decision or resolution during the meeting.

4.7. The absence of any EXCO member from three (3) consecutive EXCO meetings without a valid excuse shall be construed as voluntary resignation as an office bearer of the association and the Board of Directors may declare such an office bearer's position vacant and deal with it in terms of clauses 2.2.4 and 2.2.5 of Section 2 of Chapter 11.

SECTION 5: COMMITTEE MEETING

- 5.1 The Chairperson of the association shall serve as Ex-officio member of all standing and ad hoc committees.
- The National Manager of the association shall be an ex-officio member and Secretary of all the association's standing and ad hoc committees.
- Each standing or ad hoc committee shall meet as and when the need arise, provided that each standing or ad hoc committee shall meet at least twice per year.
- The Chairperson of each standing or ad hoc committee appointed by the Board of Directors in terms of sub-section 4.2 of Section 4 of Chapter II or clause 1.3.4 of Section 1 of Chapter 11 shall preside at meetings of each respective standing or ad hoc committee of the association.
- Notice for meetings of standing and ad hoc committee of the association shall be given at least 14 (fourteen) days prior to such meetings.
- 5.6 Each standing and ad hoc committee of the association shall consist of at least 3 (three) members, excluding ex-officio members: namely, the Chairperson and National Manager of the association.
- 5.7 A quorum at any meeting of standing or ad hoc committees of the association shall be constituted by not less than 3 (three) members, including ex-officio members; namely, the Chairperson and National Manager of the association. Should a quorum not be present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for any standing or ad hoc committee meeting, no business shall be dealt with, and such standing or ad hoc committee meeting shall be adjourned until the same day, time and place in the following week. Should such a day be a public holiday, the meeting will be postponed to the next business day. Should a quorum not be present within 30 (thirty) minutes after the appointed place, date, day and time for the adjourned standing or ad hoc committee meeting, the members present shall be deemed to constitute a quorum and the meeting shall be deemed to be duly constituted.

All decisions and resolutions made by the standing or ad hoc committee of the association shall be subject to the ratification and approval of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 6: RESOLUTIONS AND RECORDS

- 6.1. The National Manager shall keep the records and minutes of proceedings and resolutions of all meetings of SAIA in prescribed minute books, in the absence of the National Manager, one of the EXCO member will keep the records and minutes.
- 6.2. Such records and minutes of proceedings and resolutions of all meetings of the association shall be duly signed by the respective Chairperson of the meetings thereof.
- 6.3. All records and minutes of proceedings and resolutions of all meetings of the association shall be made available at the office of the national Manager of the association for inspection by any active member of good standing during office hours.

CHAPTER VII

CHANGE OF CONSTITUTION

This Constitution may only be altered or amended by a two thirds majority vote, of members present, at the Annual General Meeting or at a special meeting called for this purpose, after due notice of such meeting has been given in terms of Chapter VI Sections 1 or 2.

CHAPTER VIII

INDEMNIFICATION OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS

- 1.1 Every person acting as or deemed to be a committee member, secretary, auditor or officer of SAIA shall be indemnified out of the funds of SAIA against –
- 1.1.1. all liabilities incurred by him in that capacity;
- 1.1.2. expenditure in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted; or
- 1.1.3. costs in connection with any application under Section 248 of the Act in which relief is granted to him by the court.
- 1.2. Every such person shall be indemnified by SAIA against, (out of the funds of the Association to pay all costs), losses and expenses for which any such person may become liable by reason of –
- 1.2.1. any contract entered into; or
- 1.2.2. any act done by him, in his capacity as committee member, secretary, auditor or officer of the Institution or in any way in the discharge of his duties.
- 1.3 Subject to the provisions of the Act, no person acting as or deemed to be a committee member, secretary, auditor, officer or servant of the Association shall be liable for
- 1.3.1. any act, receipt, neglect or fault of any other such officer or servant of SAIA; or;
- 1.3.2. joining in any receipt or other act; or
- 1.3.3. loss or expense suffered by SAIA through the insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired; or
- 1.3.4. the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the monies of SAIA have been invested; or
- 1.3.5. any loss or damage arising from the insolvency or delict of any person with whom any monies, securities or effects have been deposited; or
- 1.3.6. any loss or damage occasioned by any error of judgement or oversight on his part; or
- 1.3.7. any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever which shall happen in the execution of his duties of office or in relation thereto.

CHAPTER IX

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

To the extent that the Articles of Association of the Institute may conflict with this Constitution:-

- 1.1. any of the members may require the Articles to be amended accordingly;
- 1.2. the members undertake to vote in favour of all resolutions, of SAIA necessary to amend the Articles in terms of clause 1.1 above.